
 

 
TIFA BOARD MEMBERS        

Hassen Charara, Chairperson 

Eric Hunter, Vice Chairperson 

Susan McHugh-Cilia                   
Ronald Gerst  

Helen Hicks  

Joseph Toupin 

Kabir Ahmed 

Jim Hensley 

 

A REGULAR MEETING OF THE TIFA 

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 11, 2025 AT 9:00 A.M.  

AT THE BURNETTE BRANCH LIBRARY: 

23345 VAN DYKE  

WARREN, MI 48089 

 

AGENDA  

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

3. ROLL CALL 

 

➢ Motion to excuse absent members (if any) 

 

4. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

 

➢ Motion to adopt the December 11, 2025 agenda 

 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES (November 13, 2025) 

 

➢ Motion to approve of the November 13, 2025 meeting minutes 

 

6. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 

 

7. OLD BUSINESS  

 

A. Update: Corridor Plan (Tom Bommarito) 

 

B. Business Climate and Community Engagement Survey (Tom 

Bommarito) 

 

8. NEW BUSINESS 

 

A. Purchase of Vacant Land (Tom Bommarito) 

 



 

B. Purchase Agreement for 23158 Van Dyke (Tom Bommarito) 

 

9. APPROVAL OF LIST OF BILLS (Attached) 

 

10.  GOOD OF THE ORDER 

 

11.  Next TIFA Regular Meeting is Thursday, January 8, 2026, at 

9:00 AM, in the Maybelle Burnette Library 

 

12.  ADJOURNMENT 

 

➢ Motion to adjourn 

 

DDA/TIFA, CED, CDBG and BROWNFIELD 



 

TIFA Meeting Minutes – November 13, 2025 

 

CITY OF WARREN 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY 

MINUTES OF THE BOARD 
 

Meeting held on November 13, 2025 

 

A regular meeting of the City of Warren Tax Increment Finance Authority was called for 9:00 

a.m. on Thursday, November 13, 2025 held at the Burnette Branch Library, located at 23345 

Van Dyke, Warren, MI 48089. 

 

Present: 

Hassen Charara, Chairman 

Eric Hunter, Vice Chair 

Jim Hensley 

Sue McHugh-Cilia (arrived at 9:02) 

Ronald Gerst 

Joseph Toupin 

Helen Hicks 

Kabir Ahmed (arrived at 9:05) 

 

Absent:  

 

1. Call to Order 

 

The meeting was then called to order at 9:00 a.m.  

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

3. Roll Call 

 

A motion was made by Mr. Hunter, supported by Mr. Gerst, to excuse absent members. 

 

No opposition, the motion passed. 

 

4. Adoption of Agenda  

 

Motion:  

A motion was made by Ms. Hicks, supported by Mr. Hunter, to adopt the agenda for 

November 13, 2025  

 

No opposition, the motion passed. 

 



 

 
TIFA Meeting Minutes – November 13, 2025 

5. Approval of Minutes (October 9, 2025) 

 

Motion: 

A motion was made by Mr. Toupin, supported by Mr. Hensley, to approve the October 9, 

2025 meeting minutes. 

 

No opposition, the motion passed. 

 

6. Audience Participation  

 

7. Old Business 

 

A. Discussion: Van Dyke Corridor Plan Scorecard Results (Hunter Manikas) 

 

Mr. Hunter provided an overview of the Van Dyke Corridor Plan priority scorecard results. 

Based on the responses received, the highest-scoring priorities include: 

 

• Corridor branding initiative 

 

• Establishment of a mixed-use zoning district 

 

• Vacant Lot Activation Program 

 

• Façade Improvement Program 

 

• Consideration of a Retail Interior Improvement Grant 

 

Hunter noted that some of these efforts are already underway. The DDA is currently 

collaborating with the Planning Department on new zoning regulations for the corridor, 

including the potential for an overlay district that would support increased building height, 

mixed-use (commercial/residential) development, and related enhancements. 

 

Next steps include increasing outreach for the Façade Improvement Program and 

beginning discussions with Purchasing (Craig Treppa) regarding the development of an 

RFP for corridor branding services.  A draft document will be circulated to the board for 

review prior to the next meeting. 

 

Mr. Bommarito elaborated on the purpose of the corridor plan and its multi-layered 

approach. The plan’s primary focus is on infrastructure improvements such as curbs, 

landscaping, safer crosswalks, and tree installations. As these physical improvements 

advance, the board can begin implementing “activation” strategies—initiatives like 

corridor branding, façade enhancements, and placemaking opportunities. These efforts are 

designed to attract developers, beautify the area, and make the corridor more inviting for 

investment. 

 



 

 
TIFA Meeting Minutes – November 13, 2025 

He noted that the City has already secured approval and funding from MDOT for three 

mid-block pedestrian crossings along Van Dyke, with programming/design scheduled in 

2028, and construction anticipated in 2030. MDOT has also initiated a new traffic study to 

explore additional pedestrian safety measures. Coordination with SEMCOG and the 

County will continue to advance infrastructure and mobility components of the plan. 

 

B. Discussion: Survey of TIFA Businesses (Tom Bommarito) 

 

Tom Bommarito introduced the concept of conducting a business survey within the TIFA 

district, noting that this effort aligns with the ongoing implementation work associated 

with the Van Dyke Corridor Plan. He explained that, in his experience serving on the 

Shelby DDA Board, similar surveys are being conducted to collect district-wide business 

feedback and inform long-term planning efforts. 

 

Tom emphasized the progression of work currently underway: 

 

• Infrastructure improvements 

 

• Corridor plan development 

 

• Implementation priorities 

 

• Upcoming rewrite of the TIFA Development Plan 

 

Because the Development Plan revision will be a major undertaking and tied to future 

funding, gathering direct input from businesses in the district is a critical next step. The 

proposed survey will focus on the commercial corridor only and will help identify business 

needs, desired support, and district priorities. The data collected will be used to guide 

future conversations and inform the rewrite of the Development Plan. 

 

Tom noted that the survey process will be modeled after best-practice examples and will 

begin with issuing a Request for Proposals (RFP) for firms to conduct the survey. A 

second RFP will later be issued for a consulting team to lead the Development Plan 

rewrite. 

 

An RFP Committee will be assembled to review submissions and make a recommendation. 

Two representatives from the TIFA Board are needed to serve on this committee alongside 

staff.  Board members Hassen Charara and Helen Hicks volunteered to serve as 

representatives on the RFP Committee.  

 

Motion: 

A motion was made by Mr. Charara, supported by Mr. Hunter, to appoint Hassen Charara 

and Helen Hicks to the RFP committee. 

 

No opposition, the motion passed. 



 

 
TIFA Meeting Minutes – November 13, 2025 

 

C. Update: Mural Project #2 - 21440 Van Dyke Ave (Tom Bommarito) 

 

Mr. Bommarito reported that Mural Project #2 is now complete. With the clear weather, he 

encouraged board members to stop by the site after the meeting for a group photo to 

accompany a press release announcing the mural’s completion. 

 

Mr. Bommarito noted that Mural Project #3, planned for the DPMI Garage at Civic Center 

South, has been put on hold at this time. 

 

He then provided an update on Mural Project #4, located on the wall behind 21805 Van 

Dyke. Concept development is underway, and the project is anticipated to kick off in 

spring 2026, pending final design review and preparation. Further updates will be shared 

as the timeline approaches. 

 

8. New Business (None) 

 

9. Approval of the List of Bills 

 

A motion was made by Ms. Hicks, supported by Mr. Ahmed, to approve the release of 

payments as outlined in the November 13, 2025, List of Bills 

 

Roll Call:  

Ms. Hicks  Yes 

Mr. Ahmed Yes 

Ms. Cilia  Yes 

Mr. Hunter Yes 

Mr. Gerst  Yes 

Mr. Toupin Yes 

Mr. Hensley Yes 

Mr. Charara Yes 

 

No opposition, the motion passed. 

 

10. Good of the Order 

 

Update: Housing Rehabilitation – John B. Area (Helen Hicks) 

 

Helen reported that rehabilitation work continues in the John B. area in southern Warren. A 

new roof is being installed this week on the first home. The homeowner also received a 

second grant to assist with renovating the neighboring house. 

 

One home is undergoing a full renovation after previously being slated for demolition, and 

the second home—formerly vacant—will soon be occupied by a new family. Helen clarified 

that these projects are strictly owner-occupied and do not involve landlords. 



 

 
TIFA Meeting Minutes – November 13, 2025 

 

Update: SEMCOG Planning Assistance Grant – Stephens Corridor Study (Hunter 

Manikas) 

 

Hunter announced that the city recently received a SEMCOG Planning Assistance Grant to 

conduct a multi-community study along Stephens Road in coordination with Center Line, 

Eastpointe, and St. Clair Shores. The study will explore ways to better connect the 

communities through improvements such as bike lanes, streetscape enhancements, plantings, 

and expanded trail connections.  The project aims to build upon Warren’s existing Iron Belle 

Trail (IBT) along Van Dyke, with the long-term goal of extending connectivity along 

Stephens. 

 

SEMCOG has requested that Warren designate a business owner from the district to 

participate in the committee. Approximately three meetings are expected, each about an hour 

in length. Hunter invited board members to volunteer, noting that meeting dates will be 

scheduled once responses of interest are received next Tuesday. 

 

11. Next TIFA Regular Meeting is Thursday, December 11, 2025, at 9:00 AM, in the 

Burnette Branch Library  

 

12. Adjournment 

 

Motion: 

A motion was made by Mr. Hunter, supported by Mr. Hensley, to adjourn.  

 

The motion passed unanimously. 

   

Meeting adjourned at 9:21 a.m. 

                   
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Minutes prepared by: Tiffany Nawrocki 

DDA/TIFA Assistant 

Phone: (586) 574-4676 

E-mail: tnawrocki@cityofwarren.org 

X
Hassen Charara

TIFA Chairperson

X
Tom Bommartio

TIFA Director







WARREN TIFA

PAYEE DATE OF INVOICE GL Account # AMOUNT Invoice # PO# DETAILS 

SHAHADAT 

KHANDAKER

REVIEWED 

NOVEMBER/ 

DECEMBER 2025 - $7,064.06 - -

FAÇADE IMPROVEMENT GRANT FOR 

22741 VAN DYKE - SHAHADUT 

KHANDAKER

TOTAL: $7,064.06

12/11/2025

Required Formal Approval of the Following:

Item 9



Company Item Price Check No. Comments

Spray Paint 12.68          Recipt 

Spray Paint 25.36          Recipt 

Outside Paint 202.84       Recipt 

Outside Paint 226.45       Recipt 

Outside Paint + Brick 

Glue
101.70       Recipt 

Door Siding Wood 32.31          Recipt 

Door Wood 54.10          Recipt 

Window Awning 117.66
Pick Up 

Confirmation
Online Order

Out Side Door Block 

Brick
167.16       Recipt 

Glass Block + Wave 

3x8x8
429.30       Recipt + PO

Screws 6.35            Recipt

Siding 6.36            Recipt

Siding 464.63       Recipt

Siding 20.66          Recipt

Door Wood 35.55          Recipt 

2 Metal Doors Installed 5,800.00    Invioce

Stamped "PAID", Company 

confirmed payment on 

12/04/2025

Aluminum Door 

Installed
2,900.00    Invioce

Stamped "PAID", Company 

confirmed payment on 

12/04/2025

3 Windows Installed 3,525.00    Invioce

Stamped "PAID", Company 

confirmed payment on 

12/04/2025
Total: 14,128.11  

SHAHADUT KHANDAKER FAÇADE IMPROVEMENT: 22741 VAN DYKE - PROOF OF PAYMENT

The Home Depot

Sabiston

Menards

M & S 

Commercial 

Windows LLC























 

 

22741 Van Dyke Ave  

Before 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



After 

 

 


